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Competent Person Statements 

Information in this ASX announcement that relates to Exploration Results is based on information compiled by Mr Martin Kavanagh. 

Mr Kavanagh is a Non-Executive Director of Chase Mining Corporation Limited and is a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining 

and Metallurgy (FAusIMM), a Member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists (MAIG) and a Member of the Canadian Institute of 

Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum (CIM). Mr Kavanagh has sufficient experience, which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and 

type of deposit under consideration, and to the activities, which he is undertaking. This qualifies Mr Kavanagh as a “Competent 

Person” as defined in the 2012 edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore 

Reserves (JORC Code 2012). Mr Kavanagh consents to the inclusion of information in this announcement in the form and context in 

which it appears. Mr Kavanagh holds shares in Chase Mining Corporation Limited.  

 

The information in this document that relates to Exploration Results and activities for the Torrington Project has been compiled by 

Dr Leon Pretorius. Dr Pretorius is the Executive Chairman of Chase Mining Corporation Limited and is a Fellow of the Australasian 
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experience, which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration, and to the activities, which he 

is undertaking. This qualifies Dr Pretorius as a “Competent Person” as defined in the 2012 edition of the Australasian Code for 

Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC Code 2012). Dr Pretorius consents to the inclusion of 

information in this report in the form and context in which it appears. 

The activities and information in this document that relate to the R&D programme are being conducted at the UNSW in collaboration 

with Dr Leon Pretorius as member of the R&D team. Dr Pretorius has sufficient experience which is relevant to the Torrington Project 

and to the Topaz Research activities being undertaken to act as a competent person. Dr Pretorius consents to the inclusion of the 

matters listed in this report based on the information in the form and context in which it appears. Dr Pretorius holds shares in Chase 

Mining Corporation Limited.  

http://www.linkmarketservices.com.au/
http://www.bdo.com.au/
http://www.chasemining.com.au/
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Chairman’s letter 

Dear Fellow Shareholders, 

It is my pleasure to present to you the Chase Mining Corporation Limited (Chase Mining or the Company) 

2020 Annual Report and I set out below a brief summary of the Company’s activities and achievements over 

the past year, with more details and reference to the individual ASX releases given in the Review of 

Operations. 

Although Chase Mining is an Australian-based minerals development and exploration company, it has 100% 

owned projects in Canada and Australia. 

 In Canada, the Company is focused on Ni-Cu-PGE and Gold exploration in Southwestern Quebec. Four 

successful drilling campaigns have been undertaken at the Alotta prospect since October 2018 when 

the Company acquired the prospect as part of the Zeus Minerals Quebec package.  Most of the holes 

drilled intersected high-grade Ni-Cu-PGE massive sulphides and further drilling is planned. The 

Company has commenced assessing the gold potential at the depth of the historic Lorraine Ni-Cu-PGE 

mine. 

 In Australia, the Company has an advanced Topaz-Tungsten project in northern NSW where it is 

focused on production of clean topaz concentrate for industrial minerals and beneficiation in 

the specialist metals/ceramic markets. Tungsten will be recovered from the same gravity process. 

Corporate 

On 28 May 2020, The Company announced that it had received firm and binding commitments from 

sophisticated and professional investors to raise $646,756.  The issue price of the new Shares was $0.0125 

per Share. The Placement resulted in the issue of 51,740,480 new fully paid ordinary shares in CML. GTT 

Ventures Pty Ltd acted as Lead Manager to the placement. The Company also announced on the same day 

there was to be a Share Purchase Plan (SPP) with an issue price of $0.0125 per share, which was a 18.2% 

discount to the Volume Weighted Average Market Price (VWAP) over the last 5 days on which sales of shares 

are recorded prior to the announcement of the SPP to ASX on 28 May 2020. Under the SPP, eligible 

shareholders were given the opportunity to purchase up to $30,000 worth of new fully paid ordinary shares 

in the Company by subscribing for shares in multiples of $6,000. The SPP was targeting a maximum of 

$750,000 and could be subject to a scale back at the Directors’ discretion and the Listing Rules. On 19 June 

2020, the Company advised that it had received valid applications for a total value of $1,032,000. The strong 

interest for the SPP required a scaling back of applications received to comply with the Listing Rules, with the 

maximum amount allowed to be raised under the SPP of $750,000. 

Although the Company had sufficient funds for its budgeted Zeus drilling programmes at Lorraine and Alotta 

and working capital requirements, the Board had taken the view that given the present price of gold and 

PGEs it was wise to have additional funds to allow for additional drilling at either project pending positive 

results.  

As at 30 June 2020, the Company had 318,702,401 ordinary shares on issue and $2.39 million cash at bank. 

The Company remains well placed to progress its Canadian and NSW Projects for the foreseeable future, 

while also assessing other opportunities. 
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Based on the recent Alotta Ni-Cu-PGE drilling assay results and pending the awaited Lorraine gold assay 

results, the coming year should be an exciting one for the Company’s faithful shareholders and those who 

joined the register during the past financial year. Similarly, the UNSW topaz research efforts has advanced 

further despite delays related to COVID-19.  

In closing I wish to thank the following people: my co-Directors Martin Kavanagh and Charles Thomas for 

their valuable corporate and technical support, assistance and inputs; Suzanne Yeates as Company Secretary 

and CFO; Prof. Chris Sorrell and the UNSW team members involved in the Torrington topaz research; Orix 

Geoscience who conduct the Company’s Canadian exploration efforts; and all other contract and consulting 

staff involved with the Company’s activities during the year. 

Finally, a special word of thanks to all the loyal shareholders for their continuing support. 

Leon Pretorius 
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Directors’ report 

Chase Mining Corporation Limited (“the Company” or “Chase”) is an Australian Company listed on the 
Australian Securities Exchange Limited (ASX) with code CML. The Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries 
collectively form a consolidated group (“Group”). 
 
The Directors present their report together with the financial statements of the Company and Group for the 
year ended 30 June 2020 and the auditor’s report thereon. 
 

Directors and Company Secretary 

The following persons were Directors of Chase Mining Corporation Limited during the whole of the financial 
year and up to the date of this report: 
 
Leon Pretorius (appointed 11 November 2014) 
Martin Kavanagh (appointed 27 April 2016) 
Charles Thomas (appointed 23 April 2018) 
 
Suzanne Yeates was appointed to the position of Company Secretary on 1 December 2016.  She is a Chartered 
Accountant, Founder and Principal of Outsourced Accounting Solutions Pty Ltd.  She holds similar positions 
with other public and private companies. 
 

Principal Activities 

The principal activities of the Group during the financial year were: 

(a) the carrying out of exploration activities on its mineral exploration tenements;  and  

(b) assessing other business development and research opportunities associated with the  minerals 

 industry. 

There were no significant changes in the principal activities during the year. 

Dividends  

No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company since the end of the previous financial period, 

and no dividend will be paid for the current financial year. 

Covid 19 Impact  

The unprecedented conditions created by Covid 19 have not had a significant effect on the operations of the 

Group.  After Quebec’s easing of field exploration restrictions, the planned drilling programmes at Lorraine 

and Alotta were rescheduled start late June. Essential staff were mobilised from Sudbury and locally and are 

adhering to all rules and regulations associated with COVID-19 including health monitoring. All 

communications with field staff are undertaken electronically by email, Wi-Fi virtual conferencing or phone. 

In the exceptional context surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic, the Minister of Energy and Natural 

Resources has taken the decision to suspend the validity period of all mining exploration rights (claims) in 

effect in Quebec, for a period of 12 months beginning 9 April 2020. 
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This support measure for claim holders applies in accordance with section 63 of the Mining Act and under 

the discretion of the Minister of Energy and Natural Resources. On the current expiry date of each claim, a 

12-month period will be added.  

The restrictions on global travel have had the largest impact on the Group with management being unable 

to travel to Quebec to monitor drilling programmes, with these programmes now being monitored 

remotely. 

Review of Operations 

Projects and Activities 

The Company has maintained its focus on progressing its two-pronged asset base approach, namely the Zeus 

Nickel-Copper-Platinum Group Elements (Ni-Cu-PGE) and Gold (Au) projects in Quebec (Canada) and the 

Torrington Topaz and Tungsten project in NSW Australia. The latter includes the Topfibre – UNSW research 

into the production of mullite fibre from the topaz concentrate. 

Quebec (Canada) 

During the reporting period, the Company undertook the following diamond core drilling on the advanced 

Alotta project and in evaluating the greenfields priority one VTEM geophysical anomalies within the Lorraine 

area during the reporting period:  

Alotta Project Area 

1. Sept. 2019, VTEM – Deepened 1 hole ZA-18-01 by 198m (ZA-19-01.EXT). 

2. Nov. 2019, DHEM – 1 hole for 107m (ZA-19-06) 

3. Nov. 2019, Drill-out – 6 holes for 598m (ZA-19-02 to ZA-19-05 and ZA-19-07/08) 

4. June 2020, Drill-out – 5 holes for 543m.  

Total: 13 holes for 1,446m. 

Lorraine Project Area 

1. Sept. 2019 Recon VTEM – 6 holes for 1,119m (CM-19-01 to CM-19-06) 

2. Oct.   2019 DHEM – 1 hole for 321m (CM-19-08) 

Total 7 holes for 1,440m 

Lorraine Mine Area 

Sept. 2019 DHEM – 1 hole for 354m (CM-19-07) 

Total 1 hole for 354m 

At Alotta, the November programme successfully delineated extensions to the known mineralisation, 

including a spectacular ‘bonanza grade’ intersection of chalcopyrite - pyrrhotite massive sulphide in Hole ZA-

19-05 assaying 22% Cu, 34g/t Pd, 3.5g/t Pt and 0.78% Ni, 1.4% Zn, 65g/t Ag over 0.5m from 55.3m. This forms 

part of a wider 4.1m zone of mineralisation assaying 5.3% Cu, 4.9g/t Pd, 0.9g/t Pt, 0.26% Ni and 12g/t Ag 

(ASX Announcement December 2019 and the March 2020 Quarterly Report). 
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The Company had planned to commence its 2020 drilling programme at Lorraine Gold Project in May, but 

due to a COVID-19 related delay in receipt of the approvals for it, the drilling programme commenced at the 

Alotta Copper-PGE-Nickel Project in June instead (ASX Announcements of 9, 15, 20 and 23 June 2020).  

A total of five holes for 543m were successfully completed at Alotta by 30 June 2020 with substantial visual 

intersections of massive and disseminated sulphides reported in four holes, which completed the current 

programme at Alotta. ASX progress announcements on the drilling were released on 23, 25, 26, and 29 June 

2020. Mineralised zones were cut and 116 samples collected for dispatch to ALS in Sudbury for analyses (ASX 

Announcement of 30 June 2020).  

The drill rig was mobilised to the Lorraine Mine Gold Project on 30 June 2020 to commence drilling of an 

initial four holes to confirm previously reported high-grade gold sampling at the base of the mine. This drilling 

will focus on confirming the reported unmined high-grade gold potential historically reported at and below 

250m vertical depth in the mine workings. This included high grade channel sampling from the mine’s ‘6th 

level’ (~300m depth) which returned 28m at 45g/t Au, 41g/t Ag and 3.19% Cu and another of 10m at 14g/t 

Au, 22g/t Ag and 3.16% Cu. It is estimated pending results that up to 8 deep (350 to 400m) holes sited on the 

footwall side of the mine will be required to test the reported gold potential.  

Torrington (NSW Australia) and Topfibre – UNSW ARC Research Project 

At Torrington the Background Paper for the Torrington Topaz and Tungsten Project was lodged with the NSW 

Department of Planning and Environment on 25 September 2019 towards finalising the MLA and EIS process. 

Collective comments were received in February 2020, but COVID-19 restrictions and access road damage 

caused by the fires have delayed any further groundwork, as roads either remain closed or impassable due 

to fallen and falling trees.  

The Torrington area was severely affected by the fires which plagued parts of NSW from September to late 

December 2019 and subjected to extreme drought conditions for 12-months. While both events restricted 

any field work, it did alert the Company to certain aspects of operating in the area. Given the project is reliant 

upon surface catchment water for its planned gravity processing circuit to produce both topaz and tungsten 

concentrates, the drought highlighted the necessity to initially limit the scale of the operation to provide 

topaz concentrate feed for high-value beneficiation only, i.e. for the manufacture of fibre for composite 

reinforcing and ceramic preforms for metal infiltrated friction pads etc. These form the core of the TopFibre 

– UNSW ARC collaborative Research Project which is ongoing.  

The markets for the fibre products will need to be developed and will always be small unless breakthrough 

applications are made in the aerospace and aeronautical industry applications. The Company does not 

envisage the market to exceed a few hundred tonne per annum initially. The topaz content of the host-rock 

(silexite) is nominally 20%, so at 75% recovery that equates to 150t per 1,000t of silexite mined. So even if 

these markets can be built up to 1,200tpa it means that only 8,000tpa of silexite needs to be mined and 

processed each year and the available water should suffice for that. Even at this higher end of production it 

means that only 100tpm needs to be transported from site. This will lessen any environmental issues if there 

are any of concern. 

It must be kept in mind that the target market for the fibre values the product at US$1,000/kg or US$1M per 

tonne. 
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Once in operation and if warranted the Company will investigate expansion to supply the global abrasive 

markets for which the Company received an indicative offtake agreement for between 2,000 and 5,000tpm, 

which would be in line with its original plans to process up to 500,000tpa. 

There have been ongoing additional quantifiable breakthroughs and proof of concept achievements 

associated with the TopFibre – UNSW ARC Collaborative Research Project to 30 June 2020 as reported in the 

ASX Announcement of 3 July 2020. The research programme will now focus on refining those advancements. 

This includes perfecting topaz mullite fibre preforms suitable for metal infiltration with the aim to prepare 

the findings for possible lodgment of one or more patent applications pending successful experimentation 

results. COVID-19 restrictions have hampered but not prevented research progress. 

The Company will continue to keep its shareholders and the market informed of progress on its activities and 

results. 

Tenement List 

A schedule of Exploration tenements held by the Company at the date of this report is included as an 

attachment to this Annual Report.  

Environmental Regulation 

The Company’s operations are subject to significant environmental regulation under the relevant legislation 

in the countries and local jurisdictions in which it operates and the requirements of the Exploration Licences. 

The Company believes it has met its obligations in all areas to date. 

Significant changes in the state of affairs 

During the financial year the company issued 51,740,480 fully paid ordinary shares at $0.0125 to 

sophisticated investors and undertook a share purchase plan that resulted in the issue of 60,000,000 ordinary 

shares to existing shareholders at $0.0125 per share. 

Other than as disclosed in this report, in the opinion of the directors there were no significant changes in the 

state of affairs of the Company during the financial year under review. 

Events subsequent to balance date 

Since the end of the financial year, Shareholder approval has been obtained for the issue of 22,000,000 

options over ordinary shares to Dr Leon Pretorius (10,000,000), Martin Kavanagh (5,000,000), Charles 

Thomas (5,000,000) and Suzanne Yeates (2,000,000). 

The impacts of COVID-19 have not changed since the end of the financial year. 

There have been no events that have occurred subsequent to year end that are material or unusual in nature 

that are likely to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state 

of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years. 
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Information on Directors 

The following information is current as at the date of this report. 

 

Leon Pretorius. Chairman – Executive Director and CEO 

Experience and 

expertise 

Dr. Pretorius is a Geochemist with over 48 years’ international mineral and 

mining experience. 

Since settling in Brisbane in 1978, he has worked on varied commodities with 

discovery success in gold, industrial minerals and uranium both in Queensland 

and South Africa. Mining (open cut) and processing experience has been 

gained in Gold, Industrial Minerals, Uranium and Tungsten. 

Corporately, he has also been involved as a public listed company director in 

Australia and overseas since 1985. In the ten years prior to joining Chase’s 

Board as its Executive Chairman, he was a Director of ASX listed Paladin 

Energy; Managing Director of Deep Yellow Limited; and Executive Chairman of 

Carbine Tungsten. 

Other current 

directorships 

None. 

Former listed 

directorships in last 

3 years 

None. 

Special 

responsibilities 

Chairman of the Board and CEO 

 

Interests in shares 

and options 

18,400,000 ordinary shares 

10,000,000 options 
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Martin Kavanagh. Non-Executive Director  

Experience and 

expertise 

Mr. Kavanagh is the Principal of KEM Resources - Mineral Industry Consultants, 

and has been consulting to the Company since November 2014. 

As a senior executive and consultant in the resource industry, he has 

developed a multi-commodity skill set primarily as an exploration geologist 

with a strong background in resource development, open-pit and underground 

mining, metallurgy and process plant operations. 

Until May 2013, he was an Executive Director of Deep Yellow Limited (ASX: 

DYL), a Namibian-focused uranium exploration company. Prior to joining Deep 

Yellow, he held both Executive and Non-Executive Director positions at Tanami 

Gold (ASX: TAM) from 1995 to 2007.  He has over 49 years exploration and 

mining experience acquired through fieldwork, research and management of 

Australia-wide and offshore programmes, and has worked widely within the 

exploration and mining industry in Australia and offshore in Indonesia, North 

America, the Southwest Pacific region and South Africa for Dominion Mining 

Ltd, Anaconda Australia Ltd and International Nickel Australia Ltd. 

Other current 

directorships 

None. 

Former listed 

directorships in last 

3 years 

None. 

Special 

responsibilities 

None. 

Interests in shares 

and options 

1,180,000 ordinary shares 

5,000,000 options 
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Charles Thomas. Non-Executive Director 

Experience and 

expertise 

Mr. Thomas holds a Bachelor of Commerce from UWA majoring in Corporate 

Finance.  He is an Executive director and Founding Partner of GTT a leading 

boutique corporate advisory firm based in Australia.  Mr. Thomas has worked 

in the financial service industry for more than 15 years and has extensive 

experience in capital markets as well as the structuring of corporate 

transactions. 

Other current 

directorships 

Executive Chairman of Marquee Resources Limited (ASX: MQR) since 2016. 

Non-executive director of Viking Mines Ltd (ASX: VKA) since 2017. 

Former listed 

directorships in last 

3 years 

None. 

Special 

responsibilities 

None. 

Interests in shares 

and options 

9,440,000 ordinary shares 

5,000,000 options 

 

Meetings of Directors 

The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors held during the year ended 30 June 2020, and 

the number of meetings attended by each Director were: 

 Full meetings of Directors 

 A B 
Leon Pretorius 7 7 
Martin Kavanagh 7 7 
Charles Thomas 7 7 

A =  Number of meetings attended 

B =  Number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the committee during the year 

 

There were no separately constituted committees of the Company.  Given the limited size of the Board and 

the Company and its operations, these are combined with the normal Board Meetings of the Company. 
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Remuneration report - Audited 

The Directors present the Chase Mining Corporation 2020 remuneration report, outlining key aspects of our 

remuneration policy and framework, and remuneration awarded this year. 

The report is structured as follows: 

(a) Key management personnel (KMP) covered in this report 

(b) Remuneration policy and link to performance 

(c) Elements of remuneration 

(d) Link between remuneration and performance 

(e) Remuneration expenses for KMP 

(f) Contractual arrangements with executive KMP 

(g) Non-Executive Director arrangements 

(h) Additional statutory information 

(a) Key management personnel covered in this report 

Non-executive and Executive Directors  

Leon Pretorius 
Martin Kavanagh 
Charles Thomas 

 

(b) Remuneration policy and link to performance 

The role of a remuneration committee is performed by the full Board of Directors.  The board reviews and 

determines our remuneration policy and structure annually to ensure it remains aligned to business needs, 

and meets our remuneration principles.  In particular, the board aims to ensure that remuneration practices 

are: 

 competitive and reasonable, enabling the Group to attract and retain key talent 

 aligned to the Group’s strategic and business objectives and the creation of shareholder value 

 transparent and easily understood, and 

 acceptable to shareholders 

Element Purpose Performance 
metrics 

Potential value Changes for FY 
2020 

Fixed 
remuneration 
(FR) 

Provide 
competitive market 
salary including 
superannuation 
and non-monetary 
benefits 

Nil Positioned at 
median market 
rate 

None 
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Remuneration report – Audited (continued) 

 (c) Elements of remuneration 

(i) Fixed annual remuneration (FR) 

Executives receive their fixed remuneration as cash.  FR is reviewed annually.  It is benchmarked against 

market data for comparable roles in companies in a similar industry and with similar market capitalisation.  

The board has the flexibility to take into account capability, experience, value to the organisation and 

performance of the individual.  The Group has not engaged an external remuneration consultant during 

FY2020.  From 1 July 2019 the FR for Dr Leon Pretorius, Executive Chairman, increased from $240,000 to 

$262,800. 

Superannuation is included in FR for executives.   

(ii) Short term incentives 

Short term incentives are currently not available to executive.   

(iii) Long term incentives 

Directors participate, with Shareholder approval, in the Long Term Incentive Program (“LTIP”) comprising 

one off grants of performance rights or options, with varying vesting conditions.  The Company does not have 

a formal LTIP, rather incentives are awarded at the discretion of the Board. 

Options 

During FY 2020, 20,000,000 options were awarded to the Directors (10,000,000 to Leon Pretorius, 5,000,000 

to Charles Thomas, 5,000,000 to Martin Kavanagh). The options are exercisable at $0.02 each and expire on 

31 December 2022 and have no vesting conditions.  The grant of these options was subject to shareholder 

approval which was obtained in July 2020. 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

 (d) Link between remuneration and performance 

The Company is focused on driving sustained growth in shareholder wealth, principally through mineral 

exploration, evaluation and commercialisation of discoveries each designed to increase the share price. 

The mineral discovery focus of the Company is based on exploration and evaluation activities with the 

objective of proving up a resource that can be commercialised through development, joint venture or sale. 

As the Company is still in the exploration and evaluation stage, the link between remuneration, Company 

performance and shareholder wealth is tenuous. Share prices are subject to the influence of mineral prices 

and market sentiment towards the sector and, as such, increases or decreases may occur quite independent 

of Executive performance or remuneration. 

Given the nature of the Group’s activities and the consequential operating results, no dividends have been 

paid. There have been no returns of capital in the current financial year. The details of the market price 

movements, compared to the operating profit/loss for the previous five years is set out below: 

Financial Year Net Operating 
Profit/(Loss) 

($) 

Share Price at Year 
End 
($) 

30 June 2020 (1,218,482) 0.03 

30 June 2019 (731,828) 0.026 

30 June 2018 (712,708) 0.036 

30 June 2017 (356,915) 0.035 

30 June 2016 (165,942) 0.023* 

* In August 2015, shareholders approved a capital return of 5 cents per share.  
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Remuneration report – Audited (continued) 

 (e) Remuneration expenses for KMP 

The following table shows details of the remuneration expense recognised for the Group’s key management personnel for the current and previous financial 

year measured in accordance with the requirements of the accounting standards.   

Name Year 

Fixed remuneration Variable 
remuneration 

Total 

% 
Perform- 

ance 
based Salary & Fees 

Non-cash 
benefits* 

Other short-term 
benefits^ 

Post-employment 
benefits 

Share based 
payments 

Executive Directors  

Leon Pretorius 2020 240,000 2,860 - 22,800 233,497 499,157 47% 

 2019 219,178 3,180 - 20,822 36,503 279,683 13% 

Total Executive Directors 2020 240,000 2,860 - 22,800 233,497 499,157  

 2019 219,178 3,180  20,822 36,503 279,683  

Non-executive Directors  

Martin Kavanagh 2020 48,000 - 48,402 9,158 113,811 219,371 52% 

 2019 48,000 - 51,142 9,418 13,689 122,249 11% 

Charles Thomas 2020 48,000  - 4,560 113,811 166,371 68% 

 2019 53,299 -  5,063 13,689 72,051 19% 

Marnus Bothma 2020 - - - - - - - 

(resigned 20 March 2019) 2019 22,093 - 27,624 4,723 - 54,440 - 

Total Non-Executive Directors 2020 96,000 - 48,402 13,718 227,622 385,742 - 

 2019 123,392 - 78,766 19,204 27,378 248,740 - 

Total KMP remuneration 
expensed 

2020 336,000 2,860 48,402 36,518 461,119 884,899 - 

 2019 342,570 3,180 78,766 40,026 63,881 528,423 - 

* Non-cash benefits include airfares provided under the terms of Leon Pretorius’s employment contract, along with an allocation of rent paid by the Company, 

for a field office / house in Tenterfield in which he resides. 

^ Payments made in addition to the base non-executive director fees for additional services 
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Remuneration report (continued) 

 (f) Contractual arrangements with executive KMP’s 

Remuneration of the Executive Chairman, Leon Pretorius, is by way of an executive employment contract 

and he is remunerated at a rate of $240,000 per annum exclusive of superannuation.  The notice period 

required under the contract, by either the employee or the Company, is twelve months.  The contract states 

that although the Executive Chairman will reside on the east coast of Australia, he may from time to time 

choose to reside in South Africa and that up to three return business class airfares to South Africa will be 

reimbursed to him by the Company for himself and similarly for no more than one family member, i.e. a total 

of 6 return airfares during any one 12-month period. This may be varied by the Board if additional overseas 

travel for the Company’s business is required and may be included in the planned trips to South Africa. These 

airfares have no monetary value if not utilised. Fees paid to him are included in the Remuneration Report 

within the Directors’ Report. 

(g) Non-executive Director arrangements 

The Non-Executive Directors receive fees of $48,000 per annum excluding superannuation.  Fees are 

reviewed annually by the board taking into account comparable roles.  The current base fees were reviewed 

with effect from 23 April 2018. 

During the financial year, Mr Kavanagh was paid additional fees of $48,402 for additional services as a 

geologist carried out by him. 

The maximum annual aggregate Directors’ fee pool limit is currently set at $200,000. 

All Non-executive Directors enter into a service agreement with the company in the form of a letter of 

appointment.  The letter summarises the board policies and terms, including remuneration, relevant to the 

office of Director. 

(h) Additional statutory information 

(i) Relative proportions of fixed vs variable remuneration expense 

The following table shows the relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those 

that are fixed, based on the amounts disclosed as statutory remuneration expenses in the table on page 16: 

Relative proportion of fixed vs variable remuneration expense 
Name Fixed remuneration At risk – LTI 

2020 2019 2020 2019 

Executive Directors     

Leon Pretorius 53% 87% 47% 13% 
Non-Executive Directors 
Martin Kavanagh  

 
48% 

 
89% 

 
52% 

 
11% 

Charles Thomas 
Marnus Bothma 

32% 
- 

81% 
100% 

68% 
- 

19% 
- 

 

 (ii) Reconciliation of ordinary shares and performance rights held by KMP 

The table below shows a reconciliation of ordinary shares held by each KMP from the beginning to the end 

of FY2020.   
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Remuneration report (continued) 

Shareholdings 

2020 
Name 

Balance at 
the start of 

the year 

Purchased 
during the 

year*  

Other 
changes 

during the 
year  

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

Ordinary shares     

Leon Pretorius 16,000,000 2,400,000 - 18,400,000 

Martin Kavanagh 700,000 480,000 - 1,180,000 

Charles Thomas 8,000,000 1,440,000 - 9,440,000 

Total 24,700,000 4,320,000 - 29,020,000 
* Participation in share purchase plan 

The table below shows a reconciliation of performance rights held by each KMP from the beginning to the 

end of FY2020.   

Performance rights 

2020 
Name 

Balance at 
the start of 

the year 

Granted as 
compen-

sation Expired 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

Ordinary shares     

Leon Pretorius 4,000,000 - (4,000,000) - 

Martin Kavanagh 1,500,000 - (1,500,000) - 

Charles Thomas 1,500,000 - (1,500,000) - 

Total 7,000,000 - (7,000,000) - 

 

The terms and conditions of each grant of performance rights affecting remuneration in the current  

reporting period are as follows: 

 Grant date Vesting date Grant date value 

   Tranche 1 Tranche 2 

Leon Pretorius 31 July 2018 31 January 2020 $0.02 $0.01 

Martin Kavanagh 31 July 2018 31 January 2020 $0.02 $0.01 

Charles Thomas 31 July 2018 31 January 2020 $0.02 $0.01 

No performance rights were granted during FY 2020.  All performance rights on issue at the beginning of the 

financial year expired during the year. 

Options 

2020 
Name 

Balance at 
the start of 

the year 

Granted as 
compen-

sation 

Other 
changes 

during the 
year  

Balance at the end of the 
year 

Ordinary shares    Unvested Vested 

Leon Pretorius - 10,000,000 - 10,000,000 - 

Martin Kavanagh - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 - 

Charles Thomas - 5,000,000 - 5,000,000 - 

Total - 20,000,000* - 20,000,000 - 
* Options granted subject to Shareholder Approval which was received in July 2020. 
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Remuneration report (continued)  

The number of options over ordinary shares in the Company provided as remuneration to key management 

personnel is shown on page 18.  The options were awarded on 12 June 2020, subject to Shareholder approval.  

The options carry no dividend or voting rights and are exercisable at $0.02 each.  The options do not have 

any vesting conditions and will vest on receipt of Shareholder approval.  The options expire on 31 December 

2022.  The fair value of these options was $0.21 per option.  This value was calculated using the Black & 

Scholes option pricing model. 

When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share of Chase Mining Corporation Limited. 

(iii) Transactions with Directors and Director Related Entities 

During the financial year the Group paid $65,000 to GTT Ventures Pty Ltd, a company of which Charles 

Thomas is a shareholder and director, for corporate advisory services.   

In addition, GTT Ventures Pty Ltd were paid a fee of $38,805 for professional and consulting fees associated 

with the June 2020 share placement.  The fee represented 6% of the funds raised. 

During the financial year the Group paid $12,000 of salary and wages to Ms L Osborne, who is the spouse of 

Dr L Pretorius. 

 

(iv) Loans to Key Management Personnel 

Nil 

 

End of remuneration report (audited) 

 

Shares under options 

There are 22,000,000 unissued ordinary shares in Chase Mining Corporation Limited under option at the 

date of this report.  The options are exercisable at $0.02 and expire on 31 December 2022.  The options 

have no vesting conditions. 

No option holder has any right to participate in any other share issue of the Company or any other entity. 

Insurance of officers and indemnities 

(a) Insurance of officers 

During the financial year, Chase Mining Corporation Limited paid a premium of $26,000 (GST inclusive) to 

insure the Directors and secretaries of the Company. 

  

  



20 

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may 

be brought against the officers in their capacity as officers of entities in the Group, and any other payments 

arising from liabilities incurred by the officers in connection with such proceedings. This does not include 

such liabilities that arise from conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the officers or the improper use 

by the officers of their position or of information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or to 

cause detriment to the Company. It is not possible to apportion the premium between amounts relating to 

the insurance against legal costs and those relating to other liabilities.  

(b) Indemnity of auditors

Chase Mining Corporation Limited has not agreed to indemnify their auditors. 

Proceedings on behalf of the Company 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring 

proceedings on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, 

for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.  

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under 

section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001.  

Non-audit services 

The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties 

where the auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company and/or the Group are important.  

During the year, no non-audit services were provided by the auditor. 

Auditor’s independence declaration 

A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 

2001 is set out on page 21. 

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of Directors. 

Leon Pretorius 
Chairman 

Brisbane 
4 September 2020 



CHASE MINING CORPORATION LIMITED (ABN 12 118 788 846) 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

Tel: +61 7 3237 5999 
Fax: +61 7 3221 9227 
www.bdo.com.au 

Level 10, 12 Creek St 
Brisbane QLD 4000 
GPO Box 457 Brisbane QLD 4001 
Australia 

BDO Audit Pty Ltd ABN 33 134 022 870 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO 
Australia Ltd ABN 77 050 110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit Pty Ltd and BDO Australia Ltd are members 
of BDO International Ltd, a UK company limited by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent 

member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY A J WHYTE TO DIRECTORS OF CHASE MINING CORPORATION 

LIMITED 

As lead auditor of Chase Mining Corporation Limited for the year ended 30 June 2020, I declare that, to 

the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

1. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in

relation to the audit; and

2. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Chase Mining Corporation Limited and the entities it controlled during 

the year. 

A J Whyte 

Director 

BDO Audit Pty Ltd 

Brisbane, 4 September 2020 
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Corporate governance statement 

Chase Mining Corporation Limited and the board are committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest 
standards of corporate governance. Chase Mining Corporation Limited has reviewed its corporate 
governance practices against the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (3rd edition) 
published by the ASX Corporate Governance Council.  
 
The 2020 corporate governance statement is dated as at 30 June 2020 and reflects the corporate governance 

practices in place throughout the 2020 financial year. The 2020 corporate governance statement was 

approved by the board on 31 August 2020. A description of the Group's current corporate governance 

practices is set out in the Group's corporate governance statement which can be viewed at 

http://www.chasemining.com.au/About/Corporate-Governance.  

  

http://www.chasemining.com.au/About/Corporate-Governance
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These financial statements are consolidated financial statements for the Group consisting of Chase Mining 

Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries.  A list of major subsidiaries is included in note 12. 

The financial statements are presented in the Australian currency. 

Chase Mining Corporation Limited is a Company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  

Its registered office and principal place of business is: 

  

Chase Mining Corporation Limited 

 Level 8, 46 Edward Street  

 Brisbane QLD 4000 

 

All press releases, financial reports and other information are available at our website: 

www.chasemining.com.au. 

http://www.chasemining.com.au/
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income for the year ended 30 June 2020 

  Consolidated 

  
Notes 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

     
Other income 3 146,236  212,553 
 
Expenses 

    

Depreciation and amortisation expense  (21,473)  (10,467) 
Employee benefits expense  (688,202)  (290,380) 
Research and development expensed  (154,744)  (158,305) 
Corporate advisory fees  (65,000)  (115,000) 
Exploration written off  (26,356)  - 
Administration expenses  (408,943)  (370,229) 
 
Loss before income tax expense 

  
(1,218,482) 

  
(731,828) 

Income tax benefit 5 -  - 
 
Loss for the year 

  
(1,218,482) 

  
(731,828) 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 
May be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss: 
Foreign currency translation 

  
 

6,273 

  
 

443 
 
Total comprehensive income for the year 

  
(1,212,209) 

  
(731,385) 

   
Cents 

  
Cents 

Earnings per share for loss attributable to the ordinary 
equity holders of the Company: 

    

Basic earnings per share 8 (0.57 cents)  (0.38 cents) 
Diluted earnings per share 8 (0.57 cents)  (0.38 cents) 

 

 

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in 

conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated balance sheet 

As at 30 June 2020 
  Consolidated 

  
Notes 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

ASSETS     
Current assets     
Cash and cash equivalents 9 2,390,056  644,268 
Investments 
Trade and other receivables 

10 
11 

- 
297,700 

 2,103,367 
127,952 

 
Total current assets 

  
2,687,756 

  
2,875,587 

 
Non-current assets 

    

Plant and equipment 13 26,999  48,472 
Exploration and evaluation assets 
Trade and other receivables 

14 
11 

6,361,325 
36,100 

 5,144,827 
36,100 

 
Total non-current assets 

  
6,424,424 

  
5,229,399 

 
Total assets 

  
9,112,180 

  
8,104,986 

 
LIABILITIES 

    

Current liabilities     
Trade and other payables 15 535,424  163,674 

 
Total current liabilities 

  
535,424 

  
163,674 

 
Total liabilities 

  
535,424 

  
163,674 

 
Net assets 

  
8,576,756 

  
7,941,312 

 
EQUITY 

    

Contributed equity 16 12,866,373  11,524,777 
Reserves 17 1,416,017  903,687 
Accumulates losses  (5,705,634)  (4,487,152) 
 
Total equity 

  
8,576,756 

  
7,941,312 

 

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

For the year ended 30 June 2020 
   Reserves  

  
Contributed 

equity 
$ 

 
Accumulated 

losses 
$ 

Share based 
payments 

reserve 
$ 

Contingent 
consideration 

reserve 
$ 

Foreign currency 
translation 

reserve 
$ 

 
 

Total 
$ 

 
Balance as at 1 July 2018 

 
9,203,969 

 
(3,755,324) 

 
733,089 

 
101,712 

 
- 

 
6,283,446 

Loss for the year - (731,828) - - - (731,828) 
Other comprehensive income - - - - 443 443 

Total comprehensive income - (731,828) - - 443 (731,385) 
 
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners: 

      

Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs 

 
2,320,808 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
2,320,808 

Share based payments - - 68,443 - - 68,443 

 
Balance as at 30 June 2019 

 
11,524,777 

 
(4,487,152) 

 
801,532 

 
101,712 

 
443 

 
7,941,312 

Loss for the year - (1,218,482) - - - (1,218,482) 
Other comprehensive income - - - - 6,273 6,273 
Total comprehensive income - (1,218,482) - - 6,273 (1,212,209) 
 
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners: 

      

Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs 

1,341,596 - - - - 1,341,596 

Share based payments - - 506,057 - - 506,057 
 
Balance as at 30 June 2020 

 
12,866,373 

 
(5,705,634) 

 
1,307,589 

 
101,712 

 
6,716 

 
8,576,756 

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 

For the year ended 30 June 2020 
  Consolidated 

  
Notes 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

Cash flows from operating activities     
Receipts from customers (GST inclusive)  43,643  46,622 
Payments to suppliers and employees (GST inclusive)  (756,265)  (908,835) 
Research and development tax incentive received  -  71,198 
Government incentives received  50,000  - 
Interest received  32,621  61,029 
 
Net cash outflow from operating activities 

 
19 

 
(630,001) 

  
(729,986) 

 
Cash flows from investing activities 

    

Payments for exploration and evaluation  (1,112,890)  (767,517) 
Cash acquired on acquisition of subsidiary  -  216,083 
 
Net cash outflow from investing activities 

  
(1,112,890) 

  
(551,434) 

 
Cash flows from financing activities 

    

Proceeds on issue of shares  1,396,756  500,000 
Payment of capital raising costs  (11,448)  (23,477) 
 
Net cash inflow from financing activities 

  
1,385,308 

  
476,523 

 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

  
(357,583) 

  
(804,897) 

 
Effects of foreign currency 

  
4 

  
443 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  2,747,635  3,552,089 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 

 
19(b) 

 
2,390,056 

  
2,747,635 

 

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

notes. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and 

International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.  The 

Group is a for-profit entity for financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.  Material 

accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have 

been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.   

Except for cash flow information, the financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are 

based on historical costs. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 4 September 2020.  The Directors 

have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 

 
Going Concern 

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates continuity 

of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course 

of business. 

As disclosed in the financial statements, the Group achieved a net loss of $1,218,482 (2019: net loss 

$731,828) and net operating cash outflows of $630,001 (2019: outflow $729,986) for the year ended 30 

June 2020. As at 30 June 2020 the Group had a cash balance inclusive of short term deposits of $2,390,056. 

The ability of the Group to maintain continuity of normal business activities and to pay its debts as and when 

they fall due is dependent on its ability to successfully raise additional capital and/or successful exploration 

and subsequent exploitation of areas of interest through sale or development. These circumstances give rise 

to the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern. 

The directors believe that the going concern basis of preparation is appropriate due to the following 

reasons: 

 there is sufficient cash available at balance date for the Group to continue operating; and  

 the Group has a proven history of successfully raising funds 

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern, it may be required to realise its assets and 

extinguish its liabilities other than in the ordinary course of business, and at amounts that differ from those 

stated in the financial report.  This financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the 

recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts or the amounts or classification of liabilities and 

appropriate disclosures that may be necessary should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies 

a. Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Chase 

Mining Corporation Limited (‘Company’ or ‘Parent Entity’) as at 30 June 2020 and the results of all 

subsidiaries for the year then ended. Chase Mining Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries together 

are referred to in these financial statements as the ‘Consolidated entity’ or ‘Group’. 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when 

the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has 

the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries 

are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-

consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the 

Group are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence 

of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed 

where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. A change 

in ownership interest, without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the 

difference between the consideration transferred and the book value of the share of the non-

controlling interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable to the parent. 

Where the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, 

liabilities and non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation 

differences recognised in equity. The Group recognises the fair value of the consideration received and 

the fair value of any investment retained together with any gain or loss in profit or loss. 

  



    

30 
 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020   

Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

b. Income tax 

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period’s taxable income 

based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax 

assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment 

recognised for prior periods, where applicable. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected 

to be applied when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are 

enacted or substantively enacted, except for: 

●  When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or 

an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of 

the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor taxable profits; or 

●  When the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates 

or joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the 

temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if 

it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and 

losses. 

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 

reporting date. Deferred tax assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 

that future taxable profits will be available for the carrying amount to be recovered. Previously 

unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that there are future 

taxable profits available to recover the asset. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; 

and they relate to the same taxable authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable 

entities which intend to settle simultaneously. 

Chase Mining Corporation Limited and its wholly owned subsidiaries have formed an income tax 

consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime. The head entity and the subsidiaries in the tax 

consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. The tax 

consolidated group has applied the ‘separate taxpayer within the group’ approach in determining the 

appropriate amount of taxes to allocate to members of the tax consolidated group. 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognises the current 

tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax 

credits assumed from the subsidiary. 

The group does not have a tax funding or sharing agreement in place in relation to tax liabilities that 

might arise. 



    

31 
 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies 

c. Revenue recognition 

 Interest 

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method 

of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the 

relevant period using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the 

financial asset. 

 Other income 

Other income is recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the entity will comply with the 

conditions attached to the grant and reasonable assurance that the grant funds will be received. 

d. Operating segments 

Operating segments are presented using the ‘management approach’, where the information 

presented is on the same basis as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers 

(‘CODM’). The CODM is responsible for the allocation of resources to operating segments and 

assessing their performance. 

e. Current and non-current classification 

Assets and liabilities are presented in the consolidated balance sheet based on current and non-

current classification. 

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or 

consumed in normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be 

realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless 

restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 

period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in normal operating cycle; it 

is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting 

period; or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 

after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies 

f. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other 

short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 

convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.  

For the consolidated statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents also 

includes fixed term deposits, which are shown within investments in current assets on the 

consolidated balance sheet. 

g. Trade and other receivables 

 Trade and other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment. 

h. Exploration and evaluation assets 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of 

interest.  Such expenditures comprise net direct costs and an appropriate portion of related overhead 

expenditure but do not include overheads or administration expenditure not having a specific nexus 

with a particular area of interest.  These costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are 

expected to be recouped through the successful development of the area or where activities in the 

area have not yet reached a stage which permits reasonable assessment of the existence of 

economically recoverable reserves and active or significant operations in relation to the area are 

continuing. 

A provision is raised against exploration and evaluation assets where the Directors are of the opinion 

that the carried forward net cost may not be recoverable or the right of tenure in the area lapses.  The 

increase in the provision is charged against the results for the year.  Accumulated costs in relation to 

an abandoned area are written off in full against profit in the year in which the decision to abandon 

the area is made. 

When production commences, the accumulated costs for the relevant area of interest are amortised 

over the life of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserves. 

A regular review has been undertaken on each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of 

continuing to carry forward costs in relation to that area of interest. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

i. Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of plant and 

equipment over their expected useful lives as follows: 

 Equipment and furniture  8%-50% 
 Motor vehicles    19-30% 
 

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if 

appropriate, at each reporting date. 

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future 

economic benefit to the Group. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal 

proceeds are taken to profit or loss. 

j. Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of 

the financial year and which are unpaid. They are measured at amortised cost. The amounts are 

unsecured and are on credit terms ranging between 7 and 60 days. 

k. Employee benefits 

 Short-term employee benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave 

expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected 

to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

 Other long-term employee benefits 

The liability for long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date 

are measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services 

provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and 

salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments 

are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on corporate bonds with terms to maturity 

and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 Share-based payments 

Equity-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees.  Equity-settled 

transactions are awards of shares, options or performance rights over shares, that are provided to 

employees in exchange for the rendering of services.  

The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is 

determined using various valuation methods including Black Scholes, Binomial and the Monte Carlo 

Simulation method that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the performance right, the 

impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expect price volatility of the underlying share, the 

expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the performance right. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in 

equity over the vesting period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant 

date fair value of the award, the best estimate of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the 

expired portion of the vesting period. The amount recognised in profit or loss for the period is the 

cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts already recognised in previous 

periods. 

Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore, any awards 

subject to market conditions are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market 

condition has been met, provided all other conditions are satisfied. 

If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification 

has not been made. An additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any 

modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based compensation benefit as at the date 

of modification. 

Share-based payment expenses are recognised over the period during which the employee provides 

the relevant services.  This period may commence prior to the grant date.  In this situation, the entity 

estimates the grant date fair value of the equity instruments for the purposes of recognising the 

services received during the period between service commencement date and grant date.  Once the 

grant date has been established, the earlier estimate is revised so that the amount recognised for 

services received is ultimately based on the grant date fair value of the equity instruments. 

If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the Group or employee, the failure to satisfy the 

condition is treated as a cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the Group or 

employee and is not satisfied during the vesting period, any remaining expense for the award is 

recognised over the remaining vesting period, unless the award is forfeited. 

If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and 

any remaining expense is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the 

cancelled award, the cancelled and new award is treated as if they were a modification. 
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Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

l. Issued capital 

 Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 

deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

m. Dividends 

Dividends are recognised when declared during the financial year and no longer at the discretion of 

the Company.  

n. Earnings per share 

 Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of Chase Mining 

Corporation Limited, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the 

weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus 

elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 

 Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to 

take into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with 

dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been 

issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

o. Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’) and other similar taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 

incurred is not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the 

acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 

amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or 

other payables in the consolidated balance sheet. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 

financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as 

operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or 

payable to, the tax authority. 
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Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

p. Foreign currency translation 

 (i) Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the group’s entities are measured using the 

currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional 

currency’).  The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollar ($), which is Chase 

Mining Corporation Limited’s functional and presentation currency. 

(ii) Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at 

the dates of the transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 

transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognised in profit or loss.  They are deferred in 

equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or are 

attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in the profit or loss, within 
finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the profit or loss on a net 
basis within other gains/(losses).  
 
Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and 
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation 
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or 
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on 
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as at fair value through other comprehensive income 
are recognised in other comprehensive income.  
 
(iii) Group companies 
 
The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency 
are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 
 

 assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the 
date of that balance sheet  

 income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and statement of comprehensive 
income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation 
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income 
and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions), and  

 all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.  
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Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in 
 foreign entities, and of borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such 
 investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is sold or 
 any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange 
 differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.  
 
 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated 
 as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.  
 
p. New and Amended Accounting Policies Adopted by the Group 

The Group has adopted the new Australian Accounting Standards AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019. 
This standard and its consequential amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019. This standard replaces the accounting requirements applicable 
to leases in AASB 117 Leases and related interpretations. AASB 16 introduces a single lessee 
accounting model that eliminates the requirement for leases to be classified as operating or finance 
leases. This means that for most leases, a right-to-use asset and a liability will be recognised, with 
the right-to-use asset being depreciated and the liability being unwound in principal and interest 
components over the life of the lease.   In applying AASB 16 for the first time, the Group has used 
the accounted for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 July 
2019 as short-term leases, as permitted by the Standard. 
 
The Group is not party to any leases with a lease term of more than 12 months.  The adoption of this 
standard did not have a material impact on the Group’s financial position or financial performance. 

 

q. Critical accounting estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 

It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s 

accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 

assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed below. 

 Exploration and evaluation costs 

Exploration and evaluation costs have been capitalised on the basis that the Group intend to 

commence commercial production in the future, from which time the costs will be amortised in 

proportion to the depletion of the mineral resources. Key judgements are applied in considering costs 

to be capitalised which includes determining expenditures directly related to these activities and 

allocating overheads between those that are expensed and capitalised.  

In addition, costs are only capitalised that are expected to be recovered either through successful 

development or sale of the relevant mining interest. Factors that could impact the future commercial 

production at the mine include the level of reserves and resources, future technology changes, which 

could impact the cost of mining, future legal changes and changes in commodity prices. To the extent 

that capitalised costs are determined not to be recoverable in the future, they will be written off in 

the period in which this determination is made. 
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Note 1 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

Share based payment transactions  

The Group measures the cost of equity settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair 

value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  The fair value is determined by 

using either a Black Scholes, Binomial or Monte Carlo option pricing model taking into account the 

terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted.  The accounting estimates and 

assumptions, including share price volatility, interest rates and vesting periods would have no impact 

on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may 

impact the profit or loss and equity. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Note 2 Parent information 

The following information has been extracted from the books and records of the parent and has been prepared 

in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 

  
Notes 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

 

Balance sheet 

 
ASSETS 

    

Current assets     
Cash and cash equivalents  2,390,174  644,389 
Investments  -  2,103,367 
Trade and other receivables  120,065  113,720 

 
Total current assets 

  
2,510,239 

  
2,861,476 

 
Non-current assets 

    

Plant and equipment  26,999  48,472 
Intercompany receivables  -  - 
Investment in subsidiaries  1,844,285  1,844,285 
Other assets  36,100  36,100 

 
Total non-current assets 

  
1,907,384 

  
1,928,857 

 
Total assets 

  
4,417,623 

  
4,790,333 

 
LIABILITIES 

    

Current liabilities     
Payables  170,050  114,273 

 
Total current liabilities 

  
170,050 

  
114,273 

 
Total liabilities 

  
170,050 

  
114,273 

 
Net assets 

  
4,247,573 

  
4,676,060 
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Note 2 Parent information (continued) 

 
 
 

 
Notes 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

Contributed equity  12,866,373  11,524,778 
Reserves  1,024,569  903,244 
Accumulates losses  (9,643,369)  (7,751,962) 
 
Total equity 

  
4,247,573 

  
4,676,060 

 
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income 
 
Total profit/(loss) for the year 

  
 
 
 

(1,891,407) 

  
 
 
 

(4,261,592) 

Total comprehensive income  (1,891,407)  (4,261,592) 

 

Guarantees 

Chase Mining Corporation Limited has not entered into any guarantees, in the current or previous reporting 

period, in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries. 

Contingent liabilities 

At 30 June 2020, Chase Mining Corporation Limited did not have any contingent liabilities (30 June 2019: Nil). 

Contractual commitments 

The Group has no contractual commitments at 30 June 2020. 

 

Note 3 Other Income 

  Consolidated 

  
 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

Other income:     
  Interest received from unrelated parties  20,529  57,130 
  Government incentives  50,000  - 
  Research and development tax incentive   75,707  155,423 
 
Total other income 

  
146,236 

  
212,553 
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Note 4 Loss for the year 

Loss before income tax from continuing operations includes the following specific expenses: 

  Consolidated 

  
 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

Superannuation expense  10,260  10,650 
Share based payments expense  506,057  68,443 

 

Note 5 Income tax expense 

This note provides an analysis of the Group’s income tax expense, shows what amounts are recognised 
directly in equity and how the tax expense is affected by non-assessable and non-deductible items.  It also 
explains significant estimates made in relation to the Group’s tax position. 

  Consolidated 

  
 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

 
(a) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense 
to prima facie tax payable 

    

 
Profit/(loss) before income tax expense 

  
(1,218,482) 

  
(731,828) 

 
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 27.5% (2019 – 27.5%) 

  
(335,081) 

  
(201,253) 

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) 
in calculating taxable income: 

    

  Non-deductible (income)/expenses  118,346  (23,920) 
Adjustment to deferred tax assets and liabilities for tax 
losses and temporary differences not recognised 

  
216,735 

  
225,173 

 
Income tax expense 

  
- 

  
- 

 
(b) Tax losses 

    

Net deferred tax asset not recognised including unused 
tax losses 

  
3,804,164 

  
3,174,251 

 
Potential tax benefit @ 27.5% (2019: 27.5%) 

  
1,046,145 

  
872,919 

 
(c) Franking credits 

    

Franking credits available for use in subsequent financial 
years 

  
153,452 

  
153,452 
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Note 5 Income tax expense (continued) 
 

  
Consolidated 

  
 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

(c) Deferred tax assets     
The balance comprises temporary differences 
attributable to: 

    

Tax losses  2,099,174  1,629,344 
Employee entitlements  22,947  15,717 
Share issue costs  16,181  2,692 
Other  17,008  6,360 
 
Total deferred tax assets 

  
2,155,310 

  
1,654,113 

 
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off 
provisions 

  
 

(1,109,165) 

  
 

(781,194) 
Deferred tax assets not recognised  (1,046,145)  (872,919) 
 
Net deferred tax assets 

  
- 

  
- 

 

(d) Deferred tax liabilities     
The balance comprises temporary differences 
attributable to: 

    

Interest receivable  -  3,325 
Prepayments  -  3,241 
Exploration and evaluation assets  1,109,165  774,628 
 
Total deferred tax liabilities 

  
1,109,165 

  
781,194 

 
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities pursuant to set-off 
provisions 

  
 

(1,109,165) 

  
 

(781,194) 
 
Net deferred tax liabilities 

  
- 

  
- 

 

Unused losses which have not been recognised as an asset, will only be obtained if: 

(i) the group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the 

losses to be realised; 

(ii) the group continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by the law; and 

(iii) no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the group in realising the losses. 

 
The Group has carried forward unused capital losses totalling $221,710 (2019: $221,710). 
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Note 5 Income tax expense (continued) 

Offsetting within tax consolidated entity 

Chase Mining Corporation Limited and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have applied the tax 

consolidation legislation which means that these entities are taxed as a single entity.  As a consequence, the 

deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities of these entities have been offset in the consolidated financial 

statements. 

Note 6 Key Management Personnel Compensation 

Refer to the remuneration report contained in the Directors’ report for details of the remuneration paid or 

payable to each member of the Group’s key management personnel (KMP) for the year ended 30 June 

2020. 

The totals of remuneration paid to KMP of the Company and the Group during the year are as follows: 

  Consolidated 

  
 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

Short-term employee benefits  387,262  424,516 
Post-employment benefits  36,518  40,026 
Share-based compensation  461,119  63,881 
 
Total KMP compensation 

  
884,899 

  
528,423 

 

Short-term employee benefits 

These amounts include fees and benefits paid to the executive Chairman as well as all salary, paid leave 

benefits and fees paid to non-executive directors and Key Management Personnel. 

Post-employment benefits 

These amounts are the current-year’s superannuation contributions made during the year. 

  



    

44 
 

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Note 7 Auditor’s Remuneration 

  Consolidated 

  
 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

Remuneration of the auditor for:     
- Auditing or reviewing the financial report  37,000  32,409 

Remuneration for non-audit services     
- Taxation services  -  - 

  37,000  32,409 

 

Note 8 Earnings per share 

  
 

2020 
Cents 

 2019 
Cents 

(a) Basic earnings per share     
Total basic earnings per share attributable to the 
ordinary equity holders of the Company 

  
(0.57 cents) 

  
(0.38 cents) 

 
(b) Diluted earnings per share 

    

Total diluted earnings per share attributable to the 
ordinary equity holders of the Company 

  
(0.57 cents) 

  
(0.38 cents) 

 
(c) Reconciliations of earnings used in calculating earnings per share 

  

  2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

Basic earnings per share     
Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
Company used in calculating basic earnings per share 

  
(1,218,482) 

  
(731,828) 

 
Diluted earnings per share 

    

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
Company used in calculating diluted earnings per share 

  
(1,218,482) 

  
(731,828) 

 
(d) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator 

  

  2020 
Number 

 2019 
Number 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as 
the denominator in calculating basic and diluted 
earnings per share 

  
 

211,962,613 

  
 

192,046,075 
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Note 9 Cash and cash equivalents 

  Consolidated 

  
 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

Cash at bank  2,390,056  644,268 
 
Total cash and cash equivalents 

  
2,390,056 

  
644,268 

 

Note 10 Investments 

  Consolidated 

  
 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

CURRENT 
Fixed term cash deposits 

  
- 

  
2,103,367 

 
Total investments 

  
- 

  
2,103,367 

 

Note 11 Trade and other receivables 

  Consolidated 

  
 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

CURRENT     
Interest receivable  -  12,092 
GST receivable  81,971  7,435 
Other receivables  140,022  24,200 
Research and development tax incentive receivable  75,707  84,225 
 
Total current trade and other receivables 

  
297,700 

  
127,952 

 

NON-CURRENT     
Security deposits  36,100  36,100 
 
Total non-current trade and other receivables 

  
36,100 

  
36,100 

 

Credit risk 

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to any counterparties or on a 

geographical basis. 
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Note 12 Interests in subsidiaries 

Information about material Subsidiaries 

The group’s principal subsidiaries at 30 June 2020 are set out below.  Unless otherwise stated, they have 

share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly by the group, and the proportion of 

ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the group.  The country of incorporation or 

registration is also their principal place of business. 

 
 
 
 
Name of entity 

 
 

Place of 
business/country 
of incorporation 

 
Ownership interest held by 

the group 

 
 
 
 

Principal activities 
2020 

% 
2019 

% 

Torrington Minerals Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% Mineral exploration 

TopFibre Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% Topaz research and 
development 

Zeus Minerals Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% Mineral exploration 

Zeus Minerals Corp. Canada 100% 100% Mineral exploration 

Zeus Olympus Sub Corp. Canada 100% 100% Mineral exploration 

 

Note 13 Plant and equipment 

  Consolidated 

  
 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

Field equipment 
At cost 

  
53,151 

 
 

 
53,151 

Accumulated depreciation  (48,151)  (35,133) 
 
Total field equipment 

  
5,000 

  
18,018 

 
Office equipment and furniture 
At cost 

  
 

5,404 

 
 

 
 

5,404 
Accumulated depreciation  (5,404)  (1,810) 
 
Total office equipment and furniture 

  
- 

  
3,594 

 
Motor vehicles 
At cost 

  
 

145,000 

 
 

 
 

145,000 
Accumulated depreciation  (123,001)  (118,140) 
 
Total motor vehicles 

  
21,999 

  
26,860 

 
Total plant and equipment 

  
26,999 

  
48,472 
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Note 13 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

Reconciliations of the carrying amount of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and 

end of the current financial period are set out below: 

 Field 
equipment 

$ 

Office equipment 
and furniture 

$ 

Motor 
vehicles 

$ 
Total 

$ 

 
Opening balance 

 
18,018 

 
3,594 

 
26,860 

 
48,472 

Additions - - - - 
Disposals - - - - 
Depreciation (13,018) (3,594) (4,861) (21,473) 
 
Closing balance 

 
5,000 

 
- 

 
21,999 

 
26,999 

 

Note 14 Exploration and evaluation assets   
Consolidated 

  2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

 
Exploration and evaluation assets – at cost 

  
6,361,325 

  
5,144,827 

 
The capitalised exploration and evaluation assets carried forward 
above have been determined as follows: 

   

 
Balance at the beginning of the year 

  
5,144,827 

  
2,695,838 

Exploration and evaluation assets acquired – Zeus 
Minerals 

 -  1,677,738 

Expenditure incurred during the year  1,242,854  771,251 
Expenditure written off during the year  (26,356)  - 
 
Balance at the end of the year 

  
6,361,325 

  
5,144,827 

     
The recoverability of the carrying amount of the exploration and development expenditure is dependent 

upon the successful development and commercial exploitation or, alternatively, sale of the respective areas 

of interest. 

 

Note 15 Trade and other payables 

  
 

Consolidated 

  2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

CURRENT     
Trade payables  374,124  19,775 
Sundry payables and accrued expenses  161,300  143,899 
 
Total trade and other payables 

  
535,424 

  
163,674 
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Note 16 Issued capital 

 2020 
Shares 

2019 
Shares 

2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

(a)  Share capital     
 Ordinary shares 
  Fully paid 

 
318,702,401 

 
206,961,921 

 
12,866,373 

 
11,524,777 

(b) Movements in ordinary share capital 

Date Details Note 
Number of 

Shares 
Issue 
Price $ 

1 July 2018 Opening balance  153,247,653  9,203,969 
3 October 2018 Placement shares (c) 14,285,714 $0.035 500,000 
11 October 2018 Acquisition of Zeus Minerals  

Limited 
 

(d) 
 

35,714,269 
 

$0.048 
 

1,714,285 
18 October 2018 GTT shares (e) 3,714,285 $0.035 130,000 
 Share issue expenses  -  (23,477) 
30 June 2019 Balance  206,961,921  11,524,777 
4 June 2020 Placement shares (f) 51,740,480 $0.0125 646,756 
22 June 2020 Share purchase plan (g) 60,000,000 $0.0125 750,000 
 Share issue expenses  -  (55,160) 
30 June 2020 Closing balance  318,702,401  12,866,373 

 

(c) Issue to sophisticated investors 

The issue of 14,285,714 fully paid ordinary shares to sophisticated investors at an issue price of $0.035 

cash.  

(d) Zeus Minerals Limited acquisition 

 On 11 October 2018 35,714,269 fully paid ordinary shares were issued to vendors of Zeus Minerals Pty 

Ltd as consideration for the acquisition of 100% of Zeus Minerals Pty Ltd. 

(e) Issue of shares to GTT 

The issue of 3,714,285 fully paid ordinary shares to GTT Ventures Pty Ltd as consideration for services 

performed relating to the acquisition of Zeus Minerals Limited, following shareholder approval. 

(f) Issue to sophisticated investors 

The issue of 51,740,480 fully paid ordinary shares to sophisticated investors at an issue price of $0.0125 

cash.  

(g) Share purchase plan 

The issue of 60,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares to existing shareholders under a Share Purchase Plan 

at an issue price of $0.0125 cash.  
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Note 16 Issued capital (continued) 
 

(h) Capital Management 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 

concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders, benefits for other stakeholders 

and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

The capital structure of the Group includes equity attributable to equity holders, comprising of issued 

capital, reserves and accumulated losses.  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 

Company may issue new shares, sell assets to reduce debt or adjust the level of activities undertaken 

by the company. 

The Group monitors capital on the basis of cash flow requirements for operational, and exploration 

and evaluation expenditure.  The Group will continue to use capital market issues to satisfy anticipated 

funding requirements.  

The Group has no externally imposed capital requirements.  The Group’s strategy for capital risk 

management is unchanged from prior years. 

The Covid 19 pandemic has not impacted on the Group’s ability to raise capital as evidenced by the 

capital raising in June 2020 where $1.4 million was raised through a placement to sophisticated 

investors and a Share Purchase Plan.  Based on this, the Group’s strategy for capital risk management 

is unchanged from prior years. 

Note 17 Reserves 

  Consolidated 

  
 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

Share-based payment reserve  1,307,589  801,532 
Contingent consideration reserve  101,712  101,712 
Foreign currency translation reserve  6,716  443 
  1,416,017  903,687 

 

(a) Share-based payment reserve  Consolidated 

  
 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

Share-based payment reserve  1,307,589  801,532 

 
Movements: 

    

Balance 1 July   801,532  733,089 
Share based payments  506,057  68,443 
 
Balance 30 June 

  
1,307,589 

  
801,532 

The share-based payment reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of director, employee 

and contractor options and performance rights. 
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Note 17 Reserves (continued) 

(b) Contingent consideration reserve  Consolidated 

  
 

2020 
$ 

 

 2019 
$ 

 
Contingent consideration reserve  101,712  101,712 

 

There have been no movements in the reserve during the current or prior financial years. 

The contingent consideration reserve arises from valuing the contingent share-based consideration 

associated with the purchase of the Torrington Tungsten and Topaz Project. 

(c) Foreign currency translation reserve  Consolidated 

  
 

2020 
$ 

 

 2019 
$ 

 
Foreign currency translation reserve  6,716  443 

 

Exchange differences arising on translation of the foreign controlled entity are recognised in other 

comprehensive income as described in note 1(p) and accumulated in a separate reserve within equity.  The 

cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss when the net investment is disposed of. 

 

Note 18 Operating segments 

The Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used 

by the Board of Directors (Chief Operating Decision Makers) in assessing performance and determining the 

allocation of resources. The Group is managed primarily on a geographic basis that is the location of the 

respective areas of interest (tenements) in Australia and Canada.    Operating segments are determined on 

the basis of financial information reported to the Board, which is at the Group level. The Group does not 

have any products/services where it derives revenue.  
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Note 18 Operating segments (continued) 

Basis of accounting for purposes of reporting by operating segments 

a. Accounting policies adopted 

Unless stated otherwise, all amounts reported to the Board of Directors, being the chief operating 

decision makers with respect to operating segments, are determined in accordance with accounting 

policies that are consistent with those adopted in the annual financial statements of the Group. 

b. Segment assets 

Where an asset is used across multiple segments, the asset is allocated to the segment that receives 

the majority of the economic value from the asset.  In most instances, segment assets are clearly 

identifiable on the basis of their nature and physical location. 

c. Segment liabilities 

Liabilities are allocated to segments where there is a direct nexus between the incurrence of the 

liability and the operations of the segment.  Borrowings and tax liabilities are generally considered 

to relate to the Group as a whole and are not allocated.  Segment liabilities include trade and other 

payables. 

d. Unallocated items 

The following items for revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are not allocated to operating 

segments as they are not considered part of the core operations of any segment: 

- Interest income 

- Corporate administrative and other expenses 

- Income tax expense 

- Corporate share-based payments 

- Corporate marketing and project development expenses 

- Research and development tax incentive 

e. Segment information 

Segment performance 

 

2020 

Australia 

$ 

Canada 

$ 

Unallocated 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Interest revenue   20,529 20,529 

Other income 50,000 - 75,707 125,707 

Total group income 50,000 - 96,236 146,236 

Segment net profit / (loss) 

before tax 

(154,744) (156,744) (906,994) (1,218,482) 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Note 18 Operating segments (continued) 

 

2019 

Australia 

$ 

Canada 

$ 

Unallocated 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Interest revenue - - 57,130 57,130 

Other income - - 155,423 155,423 

Total group income - - 212,553 212,553 

Segment net profit / (loss) 

before tax 

(158,305) (5,470) (568,053) (731,828) 

 

Segment assets  

 Australia 

$ 

Canada 

$ 

Unallocated 

$ 

Total 

$ 

30 June 2020 2,953,724 3,584,768 2,573,688 9,112,180 

 

 Australia 

$ 

Canada 

$ 

Unallocated 

$ 

Total 

$ 

30 June 2019 2,816,402 2,342,536 2,946,048 8,104,986 

 

Segment liabilities 

 

 

Australia 

$ 

Canada 

$ 

Unallocated 

$ 

Total 

$ 

30 June 2020 500 344,874 190,050 535,424 

 

 

Australia 

$ 

Canada 

$ 

Unallocated 

$ 

Total 

$ 

30 June 2019 5,473 43,929 114,272 163,674 

  

 Geographical Segments 

 For the purposes of segment reporting, all segment activities relating to Topaz and Tungsten 

Exploration and Evaluation is carried out in Australia and all segment activities relating to Nickel-

Copper Exploration and Evaluation is carried out in Canada. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Note 19 Cash flow information 

(a) Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash inflow from operating activities 

  Consolidated 

  2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

Profit / (loss) for the year  (1,218,482)  (731,828) 
Adjustments for     
  Depreciation expense  21,473  10,467 
  Share based payments   506,057  68,443 
  Exploration written off  26,356  - 
  Foreign exchange translation  57,805  - 
       
Change in operating assets and liabilities:     
  (Increase)/decrease in other assets  (88,180)  (106,448) 
  Increase/(decrease) in trade and other creditors  38,679  10,329 
  Increase/(decrease) in provisions  26,291  19,051 
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities  (630,001)  (729,986) 

 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents shown in the Statement of cashflows comprises the following:  

  Consolidated 

  2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

Cash and cash equivalents 9 2,390,056  644,268 
Investments 10 -  2,103,367 
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities  2,390,056  2,747,635 

 

(c) Net debt reconciliation 

The Company does not have any debt on its balance sheet and therefore no net debt reconciliation has been 

provided. 

(d) Non-Cash investing and financing activities 

There were no non-cash investing and financing activities during the financial year. 

Note 20 Events after the reporting date 

Since the end of the financial year, Shareholder approval has been obtained for the issue of 22,000,000 

options over ordinary shares to Dr Leon Pretorius (10,000,000), Martin Kavanagh (5,000,000), Charles 

Thomas (5,000,000) and Suzanne Yeates (2,000,000). 

The impacts of COVID-19 have not changed since the end of the financial year. 

There have been no events that have occurred subsequent to year end that are material or unusual in nature 

that are likely to affect significantly the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state 

of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Note 21 Related party transactions 

(a) Key management personnel - service agreements 

Refer to the remuneration report, contained in the Directors report, for details of service agreements. 

(b) Other related parties 

During the financial year the Group paid $65,000 to GTT Ventures Pty Ltd, a company of which Charles 

Thomas is a shareholder and director, for corporate advisory services.   

In addition, a fee of 6%, totalling $38,805, of the funds raised in the June 2020 placement was paid to GTT 

Ventures Pty Ltd for investors introduced by GTT Ventures Pty Ltd. 

During the financial year the Group paid $12,000 of salary and wages to Ms L Osborne, who is the spouse of 

Dr L Pretorius. 

There were no transactions with other related parties during the year and no balances held with other 

related parties at year end. 

Note 22 Commitments 

(a)  Exploration commitments 

  Consolidated 

  
Notes 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

     
 
Commitments for payments under exploration permits 
in existence at the reporting date but not recognised as 
liabilities payable 

  
 
 

- 

  
 
 

215,532 

 

So as to maintain current rights to tenure of various exploration tenements, the Group will be required to 

outlay amounts in respect of tenement exploration expenditure commitments.  These outlays, which arise 

in relation to granted tenements are noted above.  The outlays may be varied from time to time, subject to 

approval of the relevant government departments, and may be relieved if a tenement is relinquished. 

Exploration commitments are calculated on the assumption that each of these tenements will be held for its 

full term.  But, in fact, commitments will decrease materially as exploration advances and ground that is 

shown to be un-prospective is progressively surrendered.  Expenditure commitments on prospective ground 

will be met out of existing funds and new capital raisings. 

As at 30 June 2020 the company has met all of its minimum expenditure commitments on its tenements. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Note 22 Commitments (continued) 

(b)  Other contractual commitments 

The Group has secured funding from the Australian Research Council (ARC) to partially fund the Company’s 

Topaz research project in collaboration with the University of New South Wales. 

Under the ARC Linkage agreement, the Group is committed to contribute $195,000 in cash and $290,000 

in-kind towards a Topaz research project.  The in-kind contribution is Dr Leon Pretorius’ time and supply of 

raw material (topaz concentrate).  To 30 June 2020, the Group has contributed $348,781 of cash and in-kind 

contributions. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Note 23 Financial risk management 

The Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks and accounts receivable and payable. 

The totals for each category of financial instruments measured as detailed in the accounting policies to these 

financial statements, are as follows: 

  Consolidated 

  
Notes 

2020 
$ 

 2019 
$ 

Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents  2,390,056  644,268 
Investments  -  2,103,367 
Trade and other receivables  280,280  116,168 
Total financial assets  2,670,336  2,863,803 
Financial liabilities     
Trade and other payables  431,982  24,775 
Total financial liabilities  431,982  24,775 

 

The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the Group’s risk management objectives and 

policies.  The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without 

unduly affecting the Group’s competitiveness and flexibility.  

Credit risk 

Credit risk is managed on a Group basis.  Credit risk arises primarily from cash and cash equivalents and 

deposits with banks and financial institutions.  For bank and financial institutions, only independently rated 

parties with a minimum rating equivalent of that of the big 4 Australian banks is accepted. 

Liquidity risk 

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities to meet 

obligations when due.   

The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows.  No finance 

facilities were available to the Group at the end of the reporting period. 

All financial liabilities mature within one year and are carried at their contractual cashflow value. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Note 23 Financial risk management (continued) 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the change in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and 

equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. 

The Group is not exposed to market risks other than interest rate risk and foreign currency risk. 

Foreign currency risk 

Exposure to foreign currency risk may result in the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 

fluctuating due to movement in foreign exchange rates of currencies in which the Group holds financial 

instruments which are other than the AUD functional currency of the Group. 

With instruments being held by overseas operations, fluctuations in the Canadian dollar may impact on the 

Group’s financial results. 

The following table shows the foreign currency risk as on the financial assets and liabilities of the Group’s 

operations denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the operations.   The Group did 

not have foreign currency risk in the prior year.  There is no foreign currency risk in the books of the parent 

entity in the current year. 

The group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period was as follows: 

 2020 2019 
 CND 

$ 
CND 

$ 
Trade and other receivables 166,230 11,725 
Trade payables 315,283 6,281 

 

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

As the Group has interest-bearing cash assets, the Company’s income and operating cash flows are exposed 

to changes in market interest rates.  The Company manages its exposure to changes in interest rates by using 

fixed term deposits.  

At 30 June 2020, if interest rates had changed by -/+ 100 basis points from the year-end rates with all other 

variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been $23,901 lower/higher (2019: $35,521), 

as a result of higher/lower interest income from cash and cash equivalents. 

Fair Value 

The carrying value of all financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their fair value due to their short-

term nature. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2020 

Note 24 Contingencies 

There were no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2020 (2019: nil). 

Note 25 Share based payments 

PERFORMANCE RIGHTS 

A summary of movements of all performance rights issued is as follows: 

 Number 

Performance rights outstanding as at 30 June 2019 13,500,000 

Granted - 

Forfeited - 

Expired (13,500,000) 

Performance rights outstanding as at 30 June 2020 - 

 
During FY 2020 the performance rights on issue to Directors and an executive expired. 
 
OPTIONS 

A summary of movements of all options issued is as follows: 

 Number 

Options outstanding as at 30 June 2019 - 

Granted 22,000,000 

Forfeited - 

Expired - 

Performance rights outstanding as at 30 June 2020 22,000,000* 

* Options were awarded to Directors and an executive on 12 June 2020 and were subject to Shareholder approval which 

was received on 23 July 2020. 

During FY 2020 22,000,000 options were awarded to Directors and an Executive (Dr Leon Pretorius 
10,000,000, Martin Kavanagh 5,000,000, Charles Thomas 5,000,000 and Suzanne Yeates 2,000,000).  The 
options are exercisable at $0.02 and expire on 31 December 2022.  The options do not have any vesting 
conditions. 
 
The 22,000,000 options noted in the table above were awarded to Directors and an executive on 12 June 

2020 and subsequently approved by Shareholders on 23 July 2020.  The fair value of these options was 

$462,000.  This value was calculated using the Black & Scholes option pricing model by applying the following 

inputs: 

Award date 12 June 2020 

Grant date 23 July 2020 

Expiry date 31 December 2022 

Volatility 120%* 

Dividend yield 0% 

Risk-free interest rate 1.91% 

Fair value at grant date $0.021 
* Volatility has been determined by looking at the historical volatility over the same period as the expected life of the option, long term average level of volatility, the 

length of time an entity’s shares have been publicly traded, and the appropriate interval for price observations.  
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Directors’ declaration 

In the Directors’ opinion: 

(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 23 to 58 are in accordance with the

Corporations Act 2001, including:

(I) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other

mandatory professional reporting requirements, and

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2020

and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date, and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when

they become due and payable.

Note 1 confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting 

Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Executive Chairman and Chief Financial Officer 

required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

Leon Pretorius 

Executive Chairman and CEO 

Brisbane, 4 September 2020 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the members of Chase Mining Corporation Limited 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Chase Mining Corporation Limited (the Company) and its 

subsidiaries (the Group), which comprises the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2020, the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 

of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes 

to the financial report, including a summary of significant accounting policies and the directors’ 

declaration. 

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of the Group, is in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001, including:  

(i) Giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its

financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial 

Report section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations 

Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s 

APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) 

that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia.  We have also fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been 

given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the 

time of this auditor’s report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.  

Material uncertainty related to going concern 

We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial report which describes the events and/or conditions which 

give rise to the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the group’s 

ability to continue as a going concern and therefore the group may be unable to realise its assets and 

discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this 

matter. 
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Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 

our audit of the financial report of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context of 

our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 

a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material uncertainty 

related to going concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit 

matters to be communicated in our report. 

Carrying value of exploration and evaluation assets 

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

Refer to note 14 in the financial report. 

The Group carries exploration and 

evaluation assets totalling $6,361,325 as at 

30 June 2020 in relation to the application 

of the Group’s accounting policy for 

exploration and evaluation expenditure, as 

set out in note 1. The carrying value of the 

exploration and evaluation asset is a key 

audit matter due to: 

The significance of the total balance; and 

The level of procedures undertaken to 

evaluate management’s application of the 

requirements of AASB 6 Exploration for and 

Evaluation of Mineral Resources (‘AASB 6’) 

in light of any indicators of impairment that 

may be present. 

Our procedures included, but were not limited to the following: 

 Obtaining evidence that the Group has valid rights to

explore in the areas represented by the capitalised

exploration and evaluation expenditure by obtaining

confirmation of a sample of the Group' s tenement

holdings;

 Agreeing a sample of the additions to capitalised

exploration expenditure during the year to supporting

documentation, and ensuring that the amounts were

capitalised correctly;

 Making enquiries of management with respect to the status

of ongoing exploration programs in the respective areas of

interest and assessing the Group's cashflow budget for the

level of budgeted spend on exploration projects and held

discussions with directors of the Group as to their

intentions and strategy; and

 Enquiring of management, reviewing ASX announcements

and reviewing directors' minutes to ensure that the Group

had not decided to discontinue activities in any applicable

areas of interest and to assess whether there are any other

facts or circumstances that existed to indicate impairment

testing was required.
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Accounting and valuation of share based payments 

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

As disclosed in Note 25, share-based 

payment expense was recognised for 

options that were granted during the 

period. 

Refer to Note 25 of the financial report 

for a description of the accounting policy 

and significant estimates and judgements 

applied to these arrangements. 

Share-based payments are a complex 

accounting area and due to the complex 

and judgemental estimates used in 

determining the fair value of the share-

based payments, we consider the Group’s 

calculation of the share-based payment 

expense to be a key audit matter. 

Our procedures included, but were not limited to the following: 

• Reviewing market announcements and board minutes to

ensure all the new options granted during the year have

been accounted for;

• Reviewing relevant supporting documentation to obtain an

understanding of the contractual nature and terms and

conditions of the share-based payment arrangements;

• Considering whether the Group used an appropriate model in

valuing the options;

• Recalculating estimated fair value of the options using a

relevant option valuation methodology, and assessed the

valuations inputs;

• Evaluating management’s assumptions used in the calculation

being interest rate, volatility, the expected vesting period,

and the number of options expected to vest; and

• Assessing the allocation of the share-based payment expense

over management’s expected vesting period.

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the 

information in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2020, but does not include the 

financial report and the auditor’s report thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 

report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 

other information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 

true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 

and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 

financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the group to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 

if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 

Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at:  

https://www.auasb.gov.au/admin/file/content102/c3/ar1_2020.pdf 

This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

Opinion on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 13 to 21 of the directors’ report for the 

year ended 30 June 2020. 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Chase Mining Corporation Limited, for the year ended 30 

June 2020, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

Responsibilities 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 

Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  Our responsibility 

is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 

Australian Auditing Standards. 

BDO Audit Pty Ltd 

A J Whyte 

Director 

Brisbane, 4 September 2020 
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Shareholder information 

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 24 August 2020. 

A Distribution of equity securities 

Analysis of numbers of equity security holders by size of holding: 

 Class of equity security 

 Ordinary shares 
1 - 1,000 47 

1,001 – 5,000 70 
5,001 – 10,000 107 

10,001 – 100,000 641 
100,001 and over 399 

 1,264 

 

There were 310 holders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares. 

B Equity security holders 

Twenty largest quoted equity security holders 

The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities are listed below: 

 Ordinary shares 

Name Number held % of issued 
shares 

Dr Leon Pretorius 18,400,000 5.77% 

Southern Reaches Pty Ltd 13,681,731 4.29% 

Mrs Sean Llewelyn 11,400,000 3.58% 

Syracuse Capital Pty Ltd 10,214,769 3.21% 

Mounts Bay Investments Pty Ltd 9,440,000 2.96% 

Lovell & Co Pty Ltd 8,900,000 2.79% 

Mr Cam Risstrom 6,627,272 2.08% 

FWMI No 2 Pty Ltd 5,744,897 1.80% 

Nalmor Pty Ltd 5,505,614 1.73% 

National Nominees Limited 4,367,196 1.37% 

Hustler Investments Pty Ltd 4,274,738 1.34% 

Ms Lorna Osborne 4,000,029 1.26% 

Tribeca Nominees Pty Ltd 4,000,000 1.26% 

GTT Global Opportunities Pty Ltd 3,860,000 1.21% 

Wythenshawe Pty Ltd 3,770,000 1.18% 

Solequest Pty Ltd 3,500,000 1.10% 

Cryptodome Pty Ltd 3,400,000 1.07% 

Gecko Resources Pty Ltd 3,400,000 1.07% 

Mr Rohan Edmondson 3,000,000 0.94% 

Mr Amit Sharma  2,780,000 0.87% 

   

Total 130,266,246 40.88% 
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Unquoted equity securities 

 Number of issue Number of holders 

Options 22,000,000 4 

 

Holders of more than 20% of unquoted options on issue 

 Number held % of total on issue 

Leon Pretorius 10,000,000 45% 

Charles Thomas 5,000,000 23% 

Martin Kavanagh 5,000,000 23% 

 

C Substantial holders 

Substantial holders in the company are set out below: 

 Number held Percentage 

Ordinary shares   

Dr Leon Pretorius 18,400,000 5.77% 

 

D Voting rights 

The voting rights attaching to each class of equity securities are set out below: 

(a) Ordinary shares:  On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by 

proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each share shall have one vote. 

(b) Performance rights: No voting rights 
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Additional Information – Tenement List 

The table below sets out the Company’s interest in Exploration tenements as at the date of this report. 

Project Tenement. No. % Interest Expires Location 

AUSTRALIA     

Torrington 1 EL 8258 100% 16/04/2023 NSW Australia 

Torrington 2 EL 8355 100% 18/03/2021 NSW Australia 

     

CANADA – QUEBEC  

The Minister of Energy and Natural Resources announced on the 9 April 2020, that the expiry date 

of all mining exploration rights (claims or CDC) in effect in Quebec has been extended for a period 

of 12 months. The Company has yet to receive written confirmation of the new expiry dates, 

however 12 months will be added to the dates listed below. 

 Project Tenement. No. % Interest Expires Location 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 1131092 100% 2/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 1131093 100% 2/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 1131094 100% 2/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 1131116 100% 2/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 1131117 100% 2/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 1131118 100% 2/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 1131119 100% 2/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 1131120 100% 2/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 1131127 100% 2/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 1131128 100% 2/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 1131129 100% 2/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 1131130 100% 2/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 1131131 100% 2/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 1131132 100% 2/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 1131133 100% 2/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 2462712 100% 18/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 2462713 100% 18/07/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Alotta-Delphi-Zullo CDC 2466858 100% 19/08/2022 Quebec, Canada 

     

Project Tenement. No. % Interest Expires Location 

Laverlochere CDC 2386035 100% 29/05/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Laverlochere CDC 2386235 100% 5/06/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Laverlochere CDC 2386236 100% 5/06/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Laverlochere CDC 2386237 100% 5/06/2021 Quebec, Canada 
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Project Tenement. No. % Interest Expires Location 

Lorraine CDC 2497739 100% 16/07/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2497740 100% 16/07/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2497741 100% 16/07/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2497742 100% 16/07/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2497743 100% 16/07/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2497744 100% 16/07/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2497745 100% 16/07/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2502524 100% 19/09/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2502525 100% 19/09/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2502526 100% 19/09/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2502527 100% 19/09/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2502528 100% 19/09/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2502529 100% 19/09/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2391074 100% 22/09/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2391075 100% 22/09/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2395341 100% 2/12/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2395342 100% 2/12/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2395343 100% 2/12/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2395344 100% 2/12/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2395345 100% 2/12/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2395346 100% 2/12/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2395355 100% 2/12/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2395356 100% 2/12/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2395357 100% 2/12/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2401159 100% 11/03/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2401160 100% 11/03/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2402022 100% 20/03/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2402023 100% 20/03/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2402024 100% 20/03/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2402025 100% 20/03/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2402026 100% 20/03/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2406736 100% 17/06/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2321353 100% 20/06/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2321354 100% 20/06/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2460442 100% 30/08/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2460443 100% 30/08/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2460444 100% 30/08/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2411844 100% 14/09/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2363761 100% 17/09/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415020 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 
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Project Tenement. No. % Interest Expires Location 

Lorraine CDC 2415021 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415022 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415023 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415024 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415025 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415026 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415027 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415028 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415029 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415030 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415031 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415032 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415033 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415034 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415035 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415036 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415037 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415038 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415039 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415040 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415041 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415042 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415043 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415044 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415045 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415046 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415047 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415048 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415049 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415050 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415051 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415052 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415053 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415054 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415055 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415056 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2467148 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415238 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415239 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415240 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 
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Lorraine CDC 2415241 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415242 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415243 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415244 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415245 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415246 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2415247 100% 22/10/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2369438 100% 5/11/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2369439 100% 5/11/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2369440 100% 5/11/2022 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2540452 100% 10/06/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2540453 100% 10/06/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2540454 100% 10/06/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2540455 100% 10/06/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2540456 100% 10/06/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2540457 100% 10/06/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2541509 100% 14/07/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2541510 100% 14/07/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2541511 100% 14/07/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2541512 100% 14/07/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2541513 100% 14/07/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2541514 100% 14/07/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2541515 100% 14/07/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2541516 100% 14/07/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544378 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544379 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544380 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544381 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544382 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544383 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544384 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544385 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544386 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544387 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544388 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544389 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544390 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544391 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544392 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544393 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 
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Lorraine CDC 2544394 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544395 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544396 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544397 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544398 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544399 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544400 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544401 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544402 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544403 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544404 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Quebec, Canada Lorraine CDC 2544405 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544406 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544407 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544408 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544409 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544410 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544411 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

Lorraine CDC 2544412 100% 14/10/2021 Quebec, Canada 

 

 

      Australia Total - 2 Exploration Licences ~ 51km²  

      Quebec Total - 161 Claims ~81km²  

 




